THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Marvin H. Dukés, III, Master in Equity

Case No. 2011-CP-07-0340
Appellate Tracking Number: 2019-000047

TD Bank, N.A.,
Successor by merger to Carolina First Bank, Respondent,

v.

Wilbert Roller, Jr., Betty V. Roller, and James Williams Defendants,
of whom

Wilbert Roller Jr. and Betty V. Roller are the Appellants.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RECEIVED
JUL 15 2019
SC Court of Appeals

July 11, 2019

Thomas R. Goldstein, #2186.
Belk, Cobb, Infinger & Goldstein, P.A.
Attorneys for Respondent
P. O. Box 71121
N. Charleston, South Carolina 29415-1121
(843) 554-4291 (843) 554-5566 (fax)

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

Did the Master-in-Equity possess subject matter jurisdiction?

Did the foreclosing successor bank produce competent evidence of its right to foreclose?

Is the purchase price of \$400,000.00 on property valued over two million dollars so unconscionable as to shock the conscience of an equity court?

Did the Master-in-Equity err in not requiring the foreclosing bank to produce its appraisal of the property and thereby deny the appellants of their right to due process?

STATEMENT OF CASE

This case began as a foreclosure action filed on January 24, 2011 by the respondent's predecessor, Carolina First Bank. (R.O.A. page ____), which the appellants answered on March 4, 2016, demanding a jury trial, and denying the bank was entitled to foreclose and setting up additional defenses of novation, and fraud in the inducement. . (R.O.A. page ____). On October 26, 2011, T.D. Bank (Toronto Dominion) filed an amended complaint, which the appellants answered, adding one additional defense of and tortious interference with prospective business relations. (R.O.A. pages ____ and ____). On May 6, 2011, Carolina First Bank filed a reply to counterclaim. (R.O.A. page ____)

After the bank filed its original foreclosure action, a third party, James Williams, asserted a title claim on the property, and as a result of that competing claim to title, which is not implicated in this appeal, the parties engaged in extensive discovery and litigation over title for a number of years, resulting in a settlement, which quieted the title in the name of the appellants. (The appellant omits the pleadings and Orders related to the quiet title portion of the case because they have no bearing on the foreclosure issues here and would swell the record on appeal to an unnecessary size.)

The quiet title portion of the case took years to resolve, but once it was resolved, the parties agreed the Master-in-Equity could hear the foreclosure case. Following a non-jury trial on April 29, 2014, the Master-in-Equity entered an Order of Foreclosure on July 3, 2014 (R.O.A. page ____). The appellants moved for reconsideration on July 8, 2014, (R.O.A. page ____) alleging that the T.D. Bank lacked standing and that the Master erred in refusing appellants' motion for involuntary nonsuit with prejudice, which the Court denied on November 18, 2014, by form Order. (R.O.A. page ____) The appellant's appealed that decision to this Court on December 18, 2014. (R.O.A. page ____ filed at appellate tracking number 2014-002674) While the case was on appeal to this Court, the parties reached an agreement on the procedure of the case, specifically the fact that the appraisals were not completed, which could potentially moot all the issues, and on January 26, 2016, voluntarily dismissed the appeal without prejudice. (R.O.A. page [Court of Appeals Order Jan. 26, 2016])

On July 6, 2016, the Master-in-Equity sold the property at public sale \$421,000. (R.O.A. page ____ [Aug. 29, 2016, Master's Report of Sale])

Both before and following the sale, the appellants invoked the appraisal statute as authorized by § 29-3-680, and on June 29, 2016, the Court appointed three appraisers in conformity with the statute. (R.O.A. page ____ [consent Order for appointment]). The three appraisers presented a joint statement to the Court on July 27, 2018, that the fair market value of the property is \$900,000.00, and on October 26, 2018, the Master-in-Equity adjusted the deficiency accordingly. (R.O.A. page ____ [Order for deficiency judgment]). The appellants moved for reconsideration on November 2, 2018. (R.O.A. page ____). On December 12, 2018, the Court denied the appellants' motion for reconsideration, and this appeal followed on January 8, 2019. (R.O.A. pages ____ and ____.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A mortgage foreclosure is an action in equity. *Continental Mtg. Investors v. Quail Run*, 280 S.C. 400, 312 S.E.2d 272 (1984). In an appeal from a Master-in-Equity the reviewing court has jurisdiction to find facts in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of the evidence. *Stevenson v. Stevenson*, 276 S.C. 475, 279 S.E.2d 616 (1981).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case presents a dispute in which most of the material facts are not in dispute. On August 7, 2007, Carolina Bank, with whom the appellants enjoyed a long and mutually beneficial relationship, loaned the appellants 2.3 million dollars on a one-year Note secured by the appellants' 21-acre commercial parcel of real estate located on the corner of Bluffton Parkway and Buck Island Road. (The appellant refers to the parcel throughout his testimony as the "22 acres" or the "23 acres.") The terms of the original 2007 Note required the appellants to pay the interest and principal in one year. (R.O.A. page ____ [Note]) When the Note became due in 2008, Carolina Bank renewed it on a second, one-year Note for a reduced principal loan of 1.85 million; the third and fourth 2009 and 2010 Notes for the same amount. R.O.A. pages ____, ____, and ____ [Notes]

When the appellants acquired the original 300-acre commercial tract in 1970's, they subdivided out the 21-acre tract that became the last undeveloped large parcel in what would later become the Town of Bluffton. (R.O.A. page ____ [tr. page 66, lines 3-21]) In his August 20, 2018, affidavit the appellant, Wilbert Roller, testified he purchased the "22-acre tract" for \$421,000.00 in 1980.

Because Carolina Bank's original 2007, promissory note matured in one year, and because the appellants were current on interest payments and had paid down the principal by \$450,000.00, the bank renewed the Note for an additional year on September 23, 2008, and each year thereafter. R.O.A. at pages ____, ____, _____. When the second note came due, because the appellants were current on interest payments, Carolina Bank renewed it for an additional year on November 27, 2009, and then again on November 27, 2009. (R.O.A. page ____ and page ____).

Because the appellants had a working relationship with Carolina Bank, the Bank knew that when the appellants acquired the original acreage in 1970's, it was located in Beaufort County and zoned for commercial development and that the appellants were in active negotiation with third parties to develop the tract with BI-LO serving as their anchor tenant. In fact, the June 10, 2008, contract with Bi-LO called for the sale of 17.5 acres for the price of \$325,000.00 per acre, or approximately 5.6 million dollars. (R.O.A. page ____ [affidavit of Wilbert Roller, sales contract]) The sales price was approximate because of wetland delineation would determine the exact buildable acreage.

However, the Town of Bluffton laid the groundwork for the appellants' troubles when it annexed—and downzoned—the property into its city limits in the 1990's, while appellants were temporarily absent in Texas. R.O.A. page ____ [affidavit of Wilber Roller, August 20, 2018]: “During my absence from the State of South Carolina during the years 1994 to 1998, the City of Bluffton annexed the parcel and downzoned it to multi-family residential. I am sure that the City posted the property prior to annexation but the City made no effort to contact me personally in Texas to notify me of its intent to (1) annex my property, and (2) downzone it.” Because they were out of state, the appellants were unaware of this annexation until they returned to South Carolina in 2007,

and began to develop it. See testimony of Wilbert Roller at R.O.A. page ____ [tr. page 67] and December 3, 2018, affidavit of Wilbert Roller, R.O.A. page _____. Because Bluffton downzoned the tract to residential, the appellants' efforts with BI-LO were stymied until they could petition for a rezoning. Notwithstanding the annexation, the appellants began its efforts to develop the property with BI-LO serving as the anchor tenant. After they secured a written offer to purchase a portion of the tract to serve as the BI-LO for 5.6 million dollars (R.O.A. page _____ [affidavit of Wilbert Roller, contract]), the appellants petitioned the Town of Bluffton to restore their zoning, which the Town refused to do. The appellants' efforts were further thwarted when in 2007, real estate development melted down as the American economy labored under the results of Wall Street's investment banks' illegal conduct, which triggered a massive taxpayer funded salvage operation. It was during the chaos of the banking recession that the Respondent, T.D. Bank of Canada, purchased Carolina Bank and became the putative holder of appellants' Promissory Note.

Whereas before being acquired, Carolina Bank and the Rollers enjoyed a good relationship as evidenced by the annual renewals of their Note, Toronto Dominion was not interested in working with appellants to provide either long-term financing or to renew their Note to give them time to solve the zoning problem even though the Rollers previously invested tens of thousands of dollars in engineering and design plans and previously secured a contract to allow BI-LO to become the anchor tenant for 5.6 million dollars. The only impediment to appellants completing the development was the Town's political hostility for the project. The appellants contemplated litigation against the Town for its decision, but T. D. Bank would not cooperate and, after allegedly trying to undercut the appellants' contract with Ravenel Investments, insisted on foreclosing, and on January 24, 2011, filed its action, as Carolina One Bank, for foreclosure. Four months after filing the foreclosure, T. D.

Bank filed its amended complaint, officially revealing it was in control. (It also added James Williams as a party defendant.)

After the Master-in-Equity granted respondent's application for foreclosure, he sold the property for \$421,000.00 on July 6, 2016. (R.O.A. page ____ [Master's Report of Sale]) When T.D. Bank moved for a deficiency, the appellants pointed out to the court that they produced a written appraisal, fixing the fair market value of the property at two million dollars as well as evidence of their contract with BI-LO establishing a purchase price of 5.6 million dollars. In accordance with the appraisal statute, the court appointed an appraisal panel, which reported a value of \$900,000.00 on July 27, 2018, which the Master credited against the deficiency. However, when the appellants alleged that T.D. Bank was suppressing evidence, and insisted that T.D. Bank produce for the Court its appraisal for which it required appellants to pay as a condition of the original loan in order to establish the Bank's assessment of value, the Bank refused. As the Notes demonstrate, the Bank required the Rollers pay for the Bank's independent appraisal as a condition of making the original loan. The appellants demanded that the Bank produce this evidence for trial, and the Bank refused. (See. R.O.A. page ____ [Promissory Note, page 2, § 5(A): "An appraisal fee of \$1,500.00 payable from separate funds on or before today's date.]

The Master-in-Equity decided that the Bank's appraisal was irrelevant, that the appellants had no right to demand the Bank produce a trial witness—really, its appraisal document—and appellants insisted that the Bank cannot simultaneously invoke a claim for a deficiency judgment while suppressing its appraisal, which amounts on a fraud on the Court. The appellants urged the Master that the Bank is required to produce the evidence at the hearing fixing the deficiency amount, and the

Master refused finding the demand to be both irrelevant and untimely. See R.O.A. page ____ [October 26, 2018, Order pages 2-3]

Thus, the Bank's lack of standing, the failure of proof, the unconscionable disparity between value and sales price and the Court's refusal to require the Bank produce its evidence of value for trial are the important legal issues raised by this appeal.

ARGUMENTS

Argument 1.

The Master-in-Equity lacked subject matter jurisdiction.

The issue of standing to foreclose following the 2008 banking crises that collapsed the nation's economic system has been addressed by many courts. As this record of annual renewals from 2007 to 2010 makes clear, the Rollers' relationship with the lender was solid. The Bank renewed the appellants' Notes four times, and the Bank was earning substantial interest income. The appellants had every reason to expect the relationship to continue as they navigated their development plans through the Bluffton bureaucracy. However, when the Canadian Bank, T. D. Bank acquired Carolina First, the relationship between lender and borrower evaporated, and T.D. Bank refused to renew the Note and began foreclosure proceedings in 2011 even though the Rollers paid substantial interest and reduced the principal and had invested thousands in development plans.

As the appellants pointed out to the Master-in-Equity in their July 11, 2014, Motion for Reconsideration (R.O.A. page ____), the Master misapplied the law regarding the plaintiff's burden to establish jurisdiction:

In South Carolina, like in every other state, subject matter jurisdiction is fundamental to a court's power to act:

Subject matter jurisdiction of a court depends upon the authority granted to the court by the constitution and laws of the state. Subject matter jurisdiction cannot be waived or conferred by consent. *Anderson v. Anderson*, 299 S.C. 110, 382 S.E.2d 897 (1989); *American Agricultural Chemical Co. v. Thomas*, 206 S.C. 355, 34 S.E.2d 592 (1945)
Paschal v. Causey, 309 S.C. 206, 420 S.E.2d 863 (Ct. App. 1992)

It is undisputed that the Rollers entered into a creditor/debtor relationship with the respondent's predecessor, Carolina First Bank, which, according to the record in this case, no longer exists. The record also demonstrates that T. D. Bank N.A., did not own the security interest in the defendants' property until and unless it demonstrated by competent proof that it is the proper successor of Carolina First Bank, a question of fact put in issue by the appellants' answer. (R.O.A. page ___[Answer ¶2]) Therefore, it is crucial that in order to invoke the Court's power to act for the plaintiff to order a foreclosure, the foreclosing Bank must demonstrate that it is the holder of the Note and its security instrument at the time it commences the foreclosure, in other words, that it has standing. There is not a *scienter* of competent evidence in this case that Toronto Dominion is the proper successor of Carolina First Bank other than the unsupported guess of a "workout officer"

Benjamin Roper Jenkins:

Q. You didn't bring any of those [acquisition] documents with you here today?

A. No.

Q. The acquisition documents. Do you know how Toronto Dominion came to acquire

Carolina First Bank?

A. Through talks and negotiations

Q. Do you know what year that transaction was completed?

A. June 30, 2010.

R.O.A. page ____ [Transcript at page 41, lines 8-17]

The Bank's representative is obviously misinformed about the putative acquisition of Carolina First Bank because when Carolina First Bank commenced this foreclosure in January, 2011, that was a year after the Canadian bank allegedly acquired the local bank. Mr. Jenkins conceded he knew that the Rollers had paid down the principal by \$600,000.00, without which Carolina First Bank would not have renewed the notes, and he also testified he was aware that the Rollers had a zoning problem with the Town of Bluffton and had a proposal for the development of a BI-LO grocery store that would generate significant profit. (R.O.A. pages ____ [tr. pages 52-54]

In *Fielden v. Fielden*, 274 S.C. 219, 262 S.E.2d 43 (1980), the Supreme Court held that a 1979 amendment to a divorce decree could not operate to fix a 1977 Order incorporating an agreement between the parties because the Family Court in 1977 lacked subject matter jurisdiction: "This Court is aware of the May 16, 1979 Divorce Decree which incorporated the 1977 Separation Agreement. **However, that event, which occurred subsequent to the entry of the Order on appeal, cannot operate to cure the Family Court's lack of subject matter jurisdiction at the time that Order was issued.**" (emphasis added) Here, the record lacks evidence that the plaintiff owns the Note and Mortgage that is the subject of the action other than the unsupported allegation in paragraph 1 of its amended complaint: "Plaintiff T. D. Bank, N.A., Successor by Merger to Carolina First Bank . . . is a bank doing business in Beaufort County, South Carolina." (R.O.A. page ____ [amended complaint]) The appellants denied this allegation. (R.O.A. page ____ [answer, ¶ 2]) The only evidence in the record is that of the plaintiff's witness, Benjamin Jenkins, from T.D. Bank, who testified he is in charge of "special assets" and that he first became aware of the account with the Rollers, after someone in the Bank transferred the account to him as part of the "work out"

department. Mr. Jenkins testified that TD Bank merged with Carolina First on June 17, 2010, but he relied on nothing more than his memory for this assertion, and it bears repeating that the plaintiff listed in the original complaint is Carolina First Bank.

In *Funderburk v. Funderburk*, 281 S.C. 246, 315 S.E.2d 126 (1984), the Court of Appeals held that the lower court properly refused to consider approving a 1981 contractual agreement because the Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction even though the law changed in 1983, giving the lower court jurisdiction. The point is that the lower court lacked jurisdiction in 1981, and even though the law changed in 1983 giving it jurisdiction, the change could not relate back. In the Order under review (R.O.A. page ____ [Order]), the Court erroneously concluded that the plaintiff has met its burden of proof to demonstrate it is the real party in interest and is the owner of the account on which it sues. The trial court overlooked the fact that, aside from Mr. Jenkins' opinion, the record is devoid of any evidence, and thus the plaintiff has not properly invoked the subject matter jurisdiction of the Court. As *Funderburk* demonstrates, the courts of this state are particular about when a court has the power to act.

In the specific area of foreclosure, the appellate courts of Florida and Alabama have found that subsequent cures cannot relate back. See *Rigby v. Wells Fargo Bank*, (Fla. App. 4 District filed April 4, 2012): "A party must have standing to file suit at its inception and may not remedy this defect by subsequently obtaining standing." *Venture Holdings & Acquisitions Grp., LLC v. A.I.M. Funding Grp., LLC*, 75 So 3d 773, 776 (Fla. 4th DCA 2011) Likewise the Court of Appeals in Alabama reached the same result in *Patterson v. GMAC Mortgage, LLC*, (Ala Civ. App. Filed January 20, 2012, Opinion No. 2100490): "In the case now before us, GMAC Mortgage like BAC in *Sturdivant v. BAC Home Loans, LP*, ___ So 3d ___ (Ala. Civ. App. 2011), had not been assigned the

mortgage before it initiated foreclosure proceedings. Consequently, under our holding in *Sturdivant*, GMAC Mortgage lacked authority to foreclose the mortgage when it initiated the foreclosure proceedings, and, therefore, the foreclosure and the foreclosure deed upon which GMAC based its ejectment claim are invalid.” In 2013, the Supreme Court of Alabama reversed the Court of Appeals at 176 So.3d 845 (2013), but only because the issue in *Patterson* was an ejectment proceeding, not a foreclosure. The Supreme Court held that the Patterson’s could not demonstrate prejudice because the buyer took title to the property by a properly executed deed:

We do not have before us a case involving defects in the foreclosure process itself that could prejudice the mortgagor. . . . The more precise view, however, is that it is not the “process”, *i.e.*, the preliminary matters of giving and publishing notice and receiving bids on the courthouse steps, by which a foreclosure of the mortgagor’s rights is effected. As noted above, such notices and the auction that follows lead to an agreement to buy and sell the property, but it does not constitute the foreclosure. It is the execution and delivery of a deed by which the power of sale ultimately is exercised and, in turn, the foreclosure of the mortgagors rights is accompanied.

Patterson at page 851 (emphasis added)

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