STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Marvin H. Dukes, Master-in-Equity

RECEIVED

OCT 14 2019

SC Court of Appeals

Case No.: 2011-CP-07-0340
Appellate Case No.:2019-000047

TD Bank N.A.....Respondent,

v.

Wilbert Roller, Jr., Betty V. Roller and James Williams.....Defendants.

Wilbert Roller, Jr., Betty V. Roller are the.....Appellants.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Respectfully submitted,

Matthew E. Tillman
Womble Bond Dickinson (US) LLP
5 Exchange Street
P. O. Box 999
Charleston, South Carolina 29402
(843) 722-3400

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

October 11, 2019
Charleston, South Carolina

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

² The Appellant dismissed the original appeal in this action on January 16, 2016. (Dismissal of Appeal). For this reason, Respondent's counsel assumed there would be no further appeal of the 2014 Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale. As such, counsel did not secure the trial exhibits from the Clerk of Court.

lack of consideration, payment, or accord and satisfaction.”). Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the Respondent, it is clear that the Master in Equity properly denied the Appellants’ motion for involuntary non-suit, and his ruling should be affirmed.

IV. THE APPELLANTS’ CLAIM THAT THE DEFICIENCY JUDGMENT SHOULD BE SET ASIDE DUE TO AN INADEQUENT FORECLOSURE SALE PRICE FAILS BECAUSE THE APPELLANT FAILED TO RAISE THE ISSUE TO THE MASTER IN EQUITY AND BECAUSE THE APPEAL IS UNTIMELY.

The Appellants assert that the deficiency judgment entered against them should be vacated because the foreclosure sales price was so low as to “shock the conscience of the court.” While the argument made by Appellants is to set aside the deficiency judgment, the law related to this issue has been applied to vacate foreclosure sales, not to vacate the deficiency judgment. *Am. Gen. Fin. Servs. v. Brown*, 376 S.C. 580, 658 S.E.2d 99 (2008); *Bloody Point Prop. Owners Ass’n v. Ashton*, 410 S.C. 62, 762 S.E.2d 729 (Ct. App. 2014). The distinction is important to the timing of this appeal, as set forth below.

A. The Appellant Failed to Raise the Issue of Price Inadequacy to the Master in Equity.

The Appellants did not raise a claim to vacate the foreclosure sale due to an allegedly inadequate sales price before the Master in Equity. (Motion to Vacate Demand for Deficiency; Motion for Reconsideration; Memorandum in Support of Motion for Reconsideration). They attempt to raise the argument for the first time on appeal. Since this issue has not been preserved, it must not be considered on appeal. *State v. Carlson*, 363 S.C. 586, 597, 611 S.E.2d 283, 288 (Ct. App. 2005) (“Arguments not raised to or ruled upon by the trial court are not preserved for appellate review.”).

B. The Appellant Did Not Timely Appeal the Amount of the Foreclosure Sale Price.

As set forth above, the appellate courts have vacated foreclosure sales, and not deficiency judgments, when the sales price was so low as to shock the conscience of the court. *Bloody Point Prop. Owners Ass'n v. Ashton*, 410 S.C. 62, 70, 762 S.E.2d 729, 733-734 (Ct. App. 2014) ("A judicial sale will be set aside when either: (1) the sale price is so gross as to shock the conscience[;] or (2) the sale is accompanied by other circumstances warranting the interference of the court.") (citations omitted); *Am. Gen. Fin. Servs. v. Brown*, 376 S.C. 580, 584, 658 S.E.2d 99, 101 n. 2 (2008) ("Furthermore, there are guidelines for an equity court to set aside a foreclosure sale."). The foreclosure sale in this matter took place on June 6, 2016, and the Master in Equity issued a Report on Sale on August 29, 2016. (Report on Sale). To the extent the Appellants seek to vacate the foreclosure sale due to inadequacy of sales price, the time to file that motion and appeal the ruling would have been at the time the Report on Sale was issued. Therefore, to the extent the issue is preserved, the Appellants failed to timely serve the Notice of Appeal. *See* Rule 203(b)(1), SCACR.

V. TO THE EXTENT THE MASTER IN EQUITY RULED THAT THE FORECLOSURE SALE PRICE WAS NOT LEGALLY INADEQUATE, HE DID NOT ABUSE HIS DISCRETION.

As set forth above, the Plaintiff failed to preserve the issue for appellate review and also failed to timely serve the Notice of Appeal of the Master in Equity's Report on Sale. However, assuming, *arguendo*, that the issue is properly before the Court, the Master in Equity did not abuse his discretion in denying an effort to vacate the foreclosure sale.

"A judicial sale will be set aside when either: (1) the sale price is so gross as to shock the conscience[;] or (2) the sale is accompanied by other circumstances warranting the interference of the court." *Bloody Point Prop. Owners Ass'n v. Ashton*, 410 S.C. 62, 70, 762 S.E.2d 729, 733-734 (Ct. App. 2014). "South Carolina has not established a bright line rule for what percentage

the sale value must be with respect to the actual value in order to shock the conscience of the court." *Id.* (citing *E. Sav. Bank, FSB v. Sanders*, 373 S.C. 349, 359, 644 S.E.2d 802, 807 (Ct. App. 2007)). "However, a search of South Carolina jurisprudence reveals only when judicial sales are for less than ten percent of a property's actual value, have our courts consistently held the discrepancy to shock conscience of the court." *Id.*

The subject property sold at the foreclosure sale for \$421,000. (Master's Report on Sale). Based on the information provided by appraisers hired to value the subject property pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-740, the Master-in-Equity determined the value of the subject property as \$900,000.00. (Return of Appraisal Board; Order Denying Motion to Vacate Deficiency Judgment p. 5). Therefore, the subject property sold at the foreclosure sale for approximately 46% of appraised value, far greater than the less than 10% required to vacate a foreclosure sale.

The Appellants contend that a June 10, 2008 unconsummated contract to sell the subject property to Bi-Lo provides the valuation by which the foreclosure sales price should be measured. (Bi-Lo Contract). That contention is absurd. The contract was never completed, is dated eight years prior to the foreclosure sale and contains numerous conditions that the seller could never meet. It is completely irrelevant to the determination of the appraised value of the subject property on the date of the foreclosure sale. As set forth above, that appraised value was \$900,000, and the foreclosure sales price of \$421,000 cannot, as a matter of law, shock the conscience of the Court.

VI. THE MASTER IN EQUITY DID NOT ABUSE HIS DISCRETION IN DENYING APPELLANTS' MOTION TO VACATE DEFICIENCY JUDGMENT.

The Appellants fail to provide clarity regarding the nature of the Motion to Vacate Deficiency Judgment filed on August 29, 2018. Indeed, the motion is captioned with a reference to S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-680 – the appraisal rights statute. On one hand, the Appellants argue

that the Master in Equity misconstrued their legal position by treating the Motion to Vacate as an appeal of the return of the appraisal board rather than a Rule 60 motion challenging the deficiency judgment. However, on the other hand, the Appellants argue that their due process rights were violated because the Respondent violated Rule 60(b)(3) by *depriving the appraisal panel* of the ability to see the 2007 pre-loan appraisal of the subject property when evaluating the value of the subject property pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-680 *et seq.* In reality, the Appellants realized they had missed the ten-day deadline to appeal the appraisal board return set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-750 and attempted to salvage an argument by mischaracterizing their Motion to Vacate as a Rule 60 motion. However, regardless of whether the Motion to Vacate is deemed to be an appeal pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-750 or a Rule 60(b)(3), SCRCF motion, it is untimely. Further, the Master in Equity did not abuse his discretion in denying the Motion to Vacate on substantive grounds.

A. The Motion to Vacate Was Untimely Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-750.

S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-750 provides:

The petitioner or the judgment creditor may appeal from the return of the appraisers upon notice stating the ground of such appeal served upon the other party *within ten days after notice of the filing of the return*, such appeal being to the court having jurisdiction of the action or any judge thereof, who shall hear the appeal without a jury in open court or at chambers upon affidavits or oral testimony as he deems advisable. Such court may confirm the return or order a new appraisal upon such terms as he may deem equitable and an appeal from his order or decree shall lie as in other equity cases.

(emphasis added). The return of the appraisal board was filed on July 27, 2018. (return of appraisal board). Counsel for appellants received electronic notice of the return on that day. (case docket p. 2). The appellants did not file the motion to vacate deficiency judgment until August 29, 2018. (Motion to Vacate Deficiency Judgment). This was more than ten days after

the appellants received notice of the appraisal board return. Therefore, the master in equity correctly held that the motion to vacate was untimely pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-750.

B. The Motion to Vacate Was Untimely Pursuant to Rule 60(b), SCRPC.

To the extent the Appellants argue that the Motion to Vacate is a Rule 60(b)(3) motion, the motion was untimely. The Motion to Vacate Deficiency Judgment attempts to do just that – vacate the deficiency judgment based on alleged fraud by the Respondent in failing to provide the 2007 pre-loan appraisal of the subject property for the appraisal board’s review. The deficiency judgment was entered at the time of the Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale on July 3, 2014. (Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale). The deficiency judgment was then increased, *by consent*, on May 25, 2016. (Consent Order to Supplement and Amend Judgment). The Appellants now contend that this deficiency judgment should be vacated due to alleged fraudulent conduct by the Respondent. It is too late. Rule 60(b) provides that a motion to vacate a court order due to “fraud, misrepresentation or other misconduct of an adverse party” must be made “not more than one year after the judgment, order or proceeding was entered or taken.” At the latest, the deficiency judgment was entered on May 25, 2016. The Appellants did not file their Motion to Vacate until August 29, 2018. The motion was untimely.

C. The Master in Equity Did Not Abuse His Discretion in Denying the Motion to Vacate on Substantive Grounds.

The Appellants contend that the Respondent engaged in misconduct by failing to provide the 2007 pre-loan appraisal that was commissioned at the time the Respondent’s predecessor provided the subject loan to the Appellants. They contend that the failure to provide the 2007 pre-loan appraisal deprived the appraisal board and the Master in Equity of relevant information to ascertain when determining the value of the subject property. This contention is absurd, and is made despite the fact that the Appellants never requested the appraisal (or anything else) in

discovery. (Order Denying Defendants' Motion to Vacate p. 3). The Master in Equity was right to reject the argument.

The appraisal rights statute provides:

The board of appraisers as so constituted shall proceed to view and value the mortgaged property and all or a majority thereof shall make a sworn return within thirty days from their appointment of the *true value of the property as of the date of sale*, taking into consideration sale value, cost and replacement value of improvements, income production and all other proper elements which, in their discretion, enter into the determination of true value.

S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-720. The statute plainly provides the appraisal panel with authority to determine the value on the date of sale using information that the panel deems relevant. There is no evidence that the appraisal panel or the Master in Equity ever requested the 2007 pre-loan appraisal. That is not surprising. A 2007 appraisal has no relevance to a determination of the value of the subject property on the date of the foreclosure sale in 2016. Therefore, the Master in Equity properly held that the Respondent did not engage in any fraud or misconduct sufficient to vacate the deficiency judgment.

D. The Master in Equity Has No Authority to Vacate the Deficiency Judgment Based on Principles of Equity.

The right to a deficiency judgment is provided by statute. S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-660. “Absent grounds to set aside the decree of foreclosure, there is no discretion to cut off the right to a deficiency after sale where (1) the complaint in the foreclosure action asks for personal judgment, (2) the amount of the debt is fixed in the foreclosure decree, and (3) the sale is insufficient to satisfy the entire debt.” *Am. Gen. Fin. Servs. v. Brown*, 376 S.C. 580, 584, 658 S.E.2d 99, 101 (2008) (citations omitted). In *Brown*, the trial court refused to enter a deficiency judgment because doing so “would not be equitable.” *Id.* The Supreme Court of South Carolina held that a Master-in-Equity does not have the discretion to deny a deficiency judgment unless

the creditor expressly waived the claim for a deficiency. *Id.* at 583, 658 S.E.2d at 100. The Plaintiff did not waive its right to the deficiency judgment, so the Master in Equity was correct in holding that he had no power to vacate the deficiency judgment as requested by the Appellants.

VII. THE MASTER IN EQUITY DID NOT ABUSE HIS DISCRETION IN HOLDING THAT THE APPELLANTS' DUE PROCESS RIGHTS WERE NOT VIOLATED.

A. The Appellants Failed to Preserve their Due Process Argument.

The Appellants did not argue that their due process rights were violated in the Motion to Vacate Deficiency Judgment. (Motion to Vacate Deficiency Judgment). They included this argument in the Motion for Reconsideration of the Master in Equity's Order Denying Motion to Vacate Deficiency Judgment. Therefore, this argument is not preserved for review. *Patterson v. Reid*, 318 S.C. 183, 185, 456 S.E.2d 436, 437 (Ct. App. 1995) (party cannot use a motion to reconsider, alter, or amend a judgment to present an issue that could have been raised prior to the judgment but was not).

B. The Master in Equity Did Not Abuse His Discretion in Holding that the Appellants' Due Process Rights Were Not Violated.

The fundamental requirement of due process is the opportunity to be heard "at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner." *Armstrong v. Manzo*, 380 U.S. 545, 552, 85 S. Ct. 1187, 1191, 14 L. Ed. (2d) 62 (1965). The Appellants claim that the Respondent suppressed the 2007 pre-loan appraisal, thereby depriving the Appellants the opportunity to present the appraisal to the appraisal board or the court. Appellants' Brief at 33. First, the Appellants never requested the appraisal prior to the return of the appraisal board. (Order Denying Motion to Vacate Deficiency Judgment p. 3). Further, the appraisal board determines the value of the subject property as of the date of the foreclosure sale using the board's own discretion regarding what information is relevant. S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-720. There is no evidence that the

appraisal board requested the 2007 pre-loan appraisal, which was 9 years old at the time of the foreclosure sale. Further, the Master in Equity does not have discretion to alter the determination of the appraisal board. S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-740. Even if he did, the Master in Equity held that a pre-loan appraisal would have no bearing on the determination. (Order Denying Motion to Vacate Deficiency Judgment p. 3). Therefore, there is no evidence that the Appellant was not provided an opportunity to be heard at a meaningful time in a meaningful manner.

VIII. THE APPELLANTS FAILED TO PRESERVE A SPOILIATION ARGUMENT OR AN ARGUMENT THAT THE DEFICIENCY JUDGMENT SHOULD BE SET ASIDE PURSUANT TO RULE 60(B)(3), SCRPC.

The Appellants did not raise a claim that the 2007 pre-loan appraisal had been spoliated by the Respondent to the Master in Equity at any time. They attempt to raise the argument for the first time on appeal. Since this issue has not been preserved, it must not be considered on appeal. *State v. Carlson*, 363 S.C. 586, 597, 611 S.E.2d 283, 288 (Ct. App. 2005) (“Arguments not raised to or ruled upon by the trial court are not preserved for appellate review.”).

The Appellants argued that the deficiency judgment should be set aside pursuant to Rule 60(b)(5) for the first time in the Motion for Reconsideration of the Master in Equity’s Order Denying Motion to Vacate Deficiency Judgment. (Motion for Reconsideration p. 3). Therefore, this argument is not preserved for review. *Patterson v. Reid*, 318 S.C. 183, 185, 456 S.E.2d 436, 437 (Ct. App. 1995) (party cannot use a motion to reconsider, alter, or amend a judgment to present an issue that could have been raised prior to the judgment but was not).

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, Respondent TD Bank, N.A., as successor to Carolina First Bank respectfully requests that this Court affirm the Beaufort County Master-in-Equity’s order denying Appellants’ motion for involuntary non-suit, July 3, 2014 Order of Bifurcation and

Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale and October 26, 2018 Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Vacate Deficiency Judgment, including all orders denying motions for reconsideration.